2001

# Utah v. Jefferey Ray Chatwin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND JURISDICTION**

This is an appeal from a conviction for Aggravated Assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1999), in the Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah, the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick, Judge, presiding.<sup>1</sup>

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (Supp. 2001), which grants this Court jurisdiction over appeals from convictions for any crime other than a first degree or capital felony.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND  
PRESERVATION OF THE ARGUMENT**

**Issue:** Did the trial court err by allowing the prosecutor to perempt Mr. Amador Romero [“Mr. Romero”], the only member of a racial minority on the venire, after the prosecutor

---

<sup>1</sup> A copy of the Minutes of the “Sentence, Judgment, Commitment” is attached in Addendum A.



explained that the sole reason for Mr. Romero’s dismissal was his gender?

**Standard of Review:** “The trial court’s conclusion as to whether or not a prima facie case [of racial or sexual discrimination] was established is a legal determination which we review for correctness, according it no particular deference.”<sup>2</sup> Any “factual findings of the trial court relevant to allegedly discriminatory peremptory challenges merit deference on appeal and will be set aside only if they are clearly erroneous.” Pharris, 846 P.2d at 459. Ultimately, the trial court’s decision about whether purposeful discrimination was proved “turns on the credibility of the proponent of the strike and will not be set aside unless it is clearly erroneous.”<sup>3</sup>

**Preservation:** This issue was preserved at R. 101 [25-28].

### **RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION**

The following provision from the United States Constitution is relevant on appeal.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides, in pertinent part:

. . . No State shall . . . deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Pharris, 846 P.2d 454, 459 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). See also Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 96 (1986) (describing the legal standards for assessing a prima facie case); State v. Span, 819 P.2d 329, 340-42 (Utah 1991) (analyzing the legal cognizability of a minority group for purposes of assessing a prima facie case of racial discrimination).

<sup>3</sup> State v. Higginbotham, 917 P.2d 545, 548 (Utah 1996). See also State v. Bowman, 945 P.2d 153, 155 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (The trial court’s determination about whether purposeful racial discrimination has been proved “is a question of fact, [and] we will not reverse the decision of the trial court unless it is clearly erroneous.”)

U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On 16 June 2000 Appellant Jeffery Ray Chatwin [“Mr. Chatwin”] was charged by information with one count of Aggravated Assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1999). Mr. Chatwin entered a plea of not guilty, R. 21, and a trial date was set. R. 33.

A venire was assembled on 21 November 2000.<sup>4</sup> Following voir dire, the prosecutor and defense counsel exercised their peremptory strikes. R. 49, 101 [23]. The prosecutor used one of his strikes to eliminate the only member of a minority group, Mr. Romero, from the venire. R. 49, 101 [25-27]. Also, all four of the prosecutor’s strikes were used to eliminate men. R. 49, 101 [27]. The defense counsel challenged the elimination of Mr. Romero, pointing out that he was the only member of a minority group on the venire. R. 101 [26]. The prosecutor replied that he was not required to proffer an explanation for the strike unless the court found a prima facie case of racial discrimination. Id.

The court found that the name “Romero” is a Hispanic surname, and that the defense counsel was entitled to an explanation for the strike. R. 101 [26-27]. The prosecutor stated the following:

I felt, Your Honor, that this Jury would be better able to deliberate the

---

<sup>4</sup> R. 101 [4-5]. The Jury List, R. 49-50, is included in Addendum B.

evidence that I anticipate presenting to it if it were balanced between men and women. I therefore made efforts to take men off of the Jury. That may not make a great deal of sense, but that was the game plan. Mr. Romero was a man, I took him because he was a man and I thought I would be more comfortable with Ms. Rayburn or Ms. Tapp on the Jury than Mr. Romero on the Jury.

R. 101 [27]. In response, the defense counsel pointed out that the United States Supreme Court's holding in Batson v. Kentucky, prohibiting the use of peremptory strikes to eliminate venirepersons on the basis of their race, is extended to prohibit gender discrimination. R. 101 [28]. The defense counsel argued that removing venirepersons on the basis of either race or gender is inappropriate. Id. The trial court responded as follows:

Well, I am not prepared to state that the [prosecutor's] challenge [of Mr. Romero] was inappropriate. It appears to me that there's been a justification for exercising the challenge against Mr. Romero. And moreover I'm not persuaded that in a case of this nature, specifically a spousal-abuse type of case, that selecting jurors, be they male or female which the Prosecutor or Defense for that matter decides might be more inclined to adhere to the Prosecution's theory of the case or the Defense's theory, for instance, that that was an inappropriate way or manner or justification for a challenge; therefore, your challenge is declined.<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Chatwin was convicted by the jury as charged. R. 41-42. He filed a timely Notice of Appeal. R. 85-86.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Based upon incidents of domestic violence, Judge Sheila McCleve issued a

---

<sup>5</sup> Id. The transcript of the defense counsel's objection, the prosecutor's explanation, and the trial court's rulings, R. 101 [25-29], is included in Addendum C.

protective order against Ms. Brenda Lee [“Ms. Lee”], ordering her to attend counseling and anger management classes and to stay away from Mr. Chatwin. R. 101 [55-56]. In violation of that order, Ms. Lee was living with Mr. Chatwin, his mother, and his five daughters at 1325 Indiana Avenue. R. 101 [37].

On 13 June 2000 Ms. Lee was intoxicated. R. 101 [52]. She had been drinking and using methamphetamine. R. 101 [39-40, 52-53]. She drove from Mr. Chatwin’s house to her friend “Doug’s” house, using Mr. Chatwin’s vehicle. Id. She then returned to Mr. Chatwin’s house. R. 101 [40]. She and Mr. Chatwin, who had drunk some beers that day, began arguing because Ms. Lee had missed a Drug Court meeting which she had been ordered to attend. R. 101 [40-41, 54-55]. Ms. Lee decided to leave and go to her mother’s house. R. 101 [41]. She began walking west on Indiana Avenue. Id.

Ms. Lee testified that Mr. Chatwin was “hollering and screaming” at her as she walked. R. 101 [43]. However, a juvenile witness indicated that Mr. Chatwin “just stood there.” R. 101 [63]. Besides being intoxicated, Ms. Lee had not slept for at least a day due to her methamphetamine use. R. 101 [52-54].

About that time, Ms. Lee’s 14-year old daughter, Alicia Ann Lee [“Alicia”], telephoned Mr. Chatwin’s home because she hadn’t spoken to her mother in several days and wanted to see how her mother was doing.<sup>6</sup> Mr. Chatwin answered the telephone. R. 101 [104]. He told Alicia that her mother was outside, and that she was taking her things and wanted to leave. Id. Ms. Lee did not come to the telephone. R. 101 [101].

---

<sup>6</sup> R. 30, 101 [99]. Alicia was not living with her mother at that time. R. 101 [100].

Ms. Lee continued walking west on Indiana Avenue. She crossed Concord Street and Navajo Street, and reached a 7-Eleven. R. 101 [42-43]. Mr. Chatwin got in his truck and drove west, intending to find Ms. Lee to tell her about Alicia's call. R. 101 [43, 87]. He turned into the 7-Eleven and stopped in front of Ms. Lee. R. 101 [44]. He asked her to get in the truck. R. 101 [44]. She refused. R. 101 [45]. She turned, walked behind the truck, and started walking across the street. Id. A juvenile witness testified that Mr. Chatwin put the truck in reverse and hit Ms. Lee, throwing her several feet. The witness testified that Mr. Chatwin said, "that's what she gets." R. 101 [69]. Mr. Chatwin left the scene. R. 101 [71].

After Mr. Chatwin returned home, he called the police and reported that a drunk woman had bumped into his car at the 7-Eleven. R. 101 [80]. Alicia called again and Mr. Chatwin answered. R. 101 [104]. He told Alicia that her mother had bumped into the back of his truck and was at the 7-Eleven acting "like he hit her with the truck." Id. He also told Alicia "that he didn't know what he supposed to do" and had simply returned to the house. R. 101 [104].

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The prosecutor's blatant admission that he "made efforts to take men off of the Jury," R. 101 [27], and that he dismissed Mr. Romero from the jury because Mr. Romero was a man, Id., violates the Equal Protection principle. In J.E.B. v. Alabama, the United

States Supreme Court extended the holding of Batson v. Kentucky<sup>7</sup> to prohibit prosecutors from intentionally discriminating against potential jurors on the basis of their gender. J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 130-31 (1994). As the Court explained in J.E.B., intentional discrimination on the basis of gender “serves to ratify and perpetuate invidious, archaic, and overbroad stereotypes about the relative abilities of men and women.” Id. This is particularly true in cases which involve gender-related issues, such as rape, sexual harassment, or paternity. Id. at 140. Courts across the country have been particularly diligent in ridding domestic violence cases from the taint of gender discrimination during jury selection.<sup>8</sup>

This case involves an incident of domestic violence and the trial court should have been particularly diligent in ensuring that gender discrimination did not taint jury selection. Instead, the trial court allowed the prosecutor to dismiss Mr. Romero on the basis that the prosecutor’s “game plan” was to remove men from the jury and Mr. Romero was dismissed pursuant to this plan. R. 101 [27]. The trial court also ruled that racial discrimination had not occurred and that gender discrimination during a “spousal-abuse type case” was not inappropriate. R. 101 [28].

---

<sup>7</sup> In Batson v. Kentucky the United States Supreme Court held that prosecutors may not intentionally discriminate against potential jurors on the basis of their race. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 69, 89 (1986).

<sup>8</sup> Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 220, 228 (Ala. Crim. App. 1997); State v. Bourgeois, 786 So.2d 771, 775 (La. Ct. App. 2001); Commonwealth v. Tourscher, 682 A.2d 1275, 1280 (Pa. 1996); State v. Turner, 879 S.W.2d 819, 822 (Tenn. 1994); State v. Donaghy, 769 A.2d 10, 14-15 (Vt. 2000); Payne v. Gundy, 468 S.E.2d 335, 340, 343 (W. Va. 1996).

This ruling defies the holding of the United States Supreme Court in J.E.B. v. Alabama, and ignores the recognition of the Utah Supreme Court and this Court that gender discrimination is unconstitutional. State v. Litherland, 2000 UT 76, ¶23 n.9, 12 P.3d 92; State v. Colwell, 2000 UT 8, ¶14, 994 P.2d 177; State v. Shepherd, 1999 UT App 305, ¶28, 989 P.2d 503. It also sets a dangerous precedent that would allow prosecutors to unabashedly discriminate on the basis of gender simply by asserting that members of one gender are more likely to be sympathetic and receptive to prosecutorial arguments. This sort of stereotyping is at the root of the social injustice condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. at 97-99 and J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. at 131-34. As the Court said in J.E.B., “[s]triking individual jurors on the assumption that they hold particular views simply because of their gender is ‘practically a brand upon them, affixed by the law, an assertion of their inferiority.’” Id. at 142 (citations omitted). The trial court’s unconstitutional precedent should be condemned by this Court, and Mr. Chatwin should receive a new trial untainted by governmentally-approved racial or sexual discrimination.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE PROSECUTOR TO STRIKE THE ONLY MINORITY VENIREPERSON AFTER THE PROSECUTOR EXPLAINED THAT HE WAS DOING SO ON THE BASIS OF THE VENIREPERSON’S GENDER**

The principal of Equal Protection prohibits the prosecutor from using even one

peremptory challenge to discriminate against a venireperson on the basis of race or gender. Yet, in this case the prosecutor boldly declared, “Mr. Romero was a man, I took him [off] because he was a man and I thought I would be more comfortable with Ms. Rayburn or Ms. Tapp on the Jury than Mr. Romero on the Jury.” R. 101 [27]. The trial court, seemingly reassured that no unconstitutional activity was taking place, permitted the strike, ruling that there was nothing inappropriate about gender discrimination in a “spousal-abuse type of case . . . .” R. 101 [28]. This blatantly ignores well-established jurisprudence flatly prohibiting race or gender-based discrimination in jury selection, and condones gender discrimination in precisely the circumstances where it may do the most harm.

Beginning with Batson v. Kentucky issued in 1986, the United States Supreme Court has worked to ensure that the jury selection process proceeds unhindered by the evils of social discrimination that undermined the fabric of our society in the past. In Batson the Court declared that “the Equal Protection Clause forbids the prosecutor to challenge potential jurors solely on account of their race or on the assumption that black jurors as a group will be unable impartially to consider the State’s case against a black defendant.” Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986). This protection was readily extended to members of all cognizable racial minority groups in Holland v. Illinois, 493 U.S. 474, 476-77 (1990).

In J.E.B. v. Alabama, the Court examined the issue of gender discrimination in the jury selection process. In J.E.B. the State of Alabama filed a paternity suit against a man



on behalf of a mother and her minor child. J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 129 (1994). The venire consisted of thirty-six people, twelve men and twenty-four women. Id. The State used nine of its ten peremptory strikes to remove men and the defendant used all but one of his strikes to remove women. Id. The resulting jury consisted entirely of women. Id. The defendant was found to be the father of the child and was ordered to pay child support. Id. He appealed, claiming that the prosecutor unconstitutionally discriminated against men in exercising his peremptory challenges. Id. at 129-30.

The United States Supreme Court agreed. The Court declared:

[t]oday we reaffirm what, by now, should be axiomatic: Intentional discrimination on the basis of gender by state actors violates the Equal Protection Clause, particularly where, as here, the discrimination serves to ratify and perpetuate invidious, archaic, and overbroad stereotypes about the relative abilities of men and women.

Id. at 130-31. Attempting to justify the strikes, the State drew the Court's attention to the fact that the case involved a paternity action filed on behalf of a child born out of wedlock. Id. at 137-38. The State argued that it was reasonable to strike virtually all of the men from the jury because, historically, male jurors had been disposed to accept the arguments of a man while female jurors were disposed to accept the arguments of the mother. Id. The Court flatly rejected this argument, declaring, "[w]e shall not accept as a defense to gender-based peremptory challenges 'the very stereotype the law condemns.'"

Id. at 138 (citation omitted). The Court emphasized:

When state actors exercise peremptory challenges in reliance on gender stereotypes, they ratify and reinforce prejudicial views of the relative abilities of men and women. Because these stereotypes have wreaked

injustice in so many other spheres of our country's public life, active discrimination by litigants on the basis of gender during jury selection 'invites cynicism respecting the jury's neutrality and its obligation to adhere to the law.' . . . *The potential for cynicism is particularly acute in cases where gender-related issues are prominent, such as cases involving rape, sexual harassment, or paternity.* Discriminatory use of peremptory challenges may create the impression that the judicial system has acquiesced in suppressing full participation by one gender or that the 'deck has been stacked' in favor of one side.<sup>9</sup>

Addressing concern that its holding would severely cripple the important role of peremptory challenges in impaneling fair, impartial juries, the Court added that its holding "does not imply the elimination of all peremptory challenges." Id. at 143. On the contrary, "[p]arties still may remove jurors who they feel might be less acceptable than others on the panel; gender simply may not serve as a proxy for bias." Id. "Even strikes based on characteristics that are disproportionately associated with one gender could be appropriate, absent a showing of pretext." Id. To avoid pretextual strikes, trial courts

---

<sup>9</sup> Id. at 140 (emphasis added) (quoting Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 412-13 (1991)). Significantly, the Court also noted:

Even if a measure of truth can be found in some of the gender stereotypes used to justify gender-based peremptory challenges, that fact alone cannot support discrimination on the basis of gender in jury selection. We have made abundantly clear in past cases that gender classifications that rest on impermissible stereotypes violate the Equal Protection Clause, even when some statistical support can be conjured up for the generalization. . . . The generalization advanced by Alabama in support of its asserted right to discriminate on the basis of gender is, at the least, overbroad, and serves only to perpetuate the same 'outmoded notions of the relative capabilities of men and women.' . . . The Equal Protection Clause, as interpreted by decisions of this Court, acknowledges that a shred of truth may be contained in some stereotypes, but requires that state actors look beyond the surface before making judgments about people that are likely to stigmatize as well as to perpetuate historical patterns of discrimination.

Id. at 139 n.11 (citations deleted).

should conduct a thorough voir dire so that parties will have a firm basis upon which to exercise their peremptory strikes. Id. at 143-44. “If conducted properly, voir dire can inform litigants about potential jurors, making reliance upon stereotypical and pejorative notions about a particular gender or race both unnecessary and unwise.” Id. at 143.

The Utah Supreme Court recently recognized that J.E.B. v. Alabama prohibits Utah prosecutors from purposefully discriminating against venirepersons on the basis of their gender. State v. Litherland, 2000 UT 76, ¶23 n.9, 12 P.3d 92; State v. Colwell, 2000 UT 8, ¶14, 994 P.2d 177. Likewise, this Court holds that striking potential jurors solely on the basis of their gender violates the principal of Equal Protection. State v. Shepherd, 1999 UT App 305, ¶28, 989 P.2d 503.

As a result of J.E.B., courts across the country are particularly diligent in scrutinizing jury selection proceedings when cases involve domestic violence, rape, sexual harassment, and other gender-sensitive issues.<sup>10</sup> Recently, appellate courts have reversed or remanded many cases involving domestic violence because prosecutors have blatantly discriminated against venirepersons on the basis of gender.<sup>11</sup> Even when gender

---

<sup>10</sup> See J.E.B., 511 U.S. at 140 (“The potential for cynicism is particularly acute in cases where gender-related issues are prominent, such as cases involving rape, sexual harassment, or paternity. Discriminatory use of peremptory challenges may create the impression that the judicial system has acquiesced in suppressing full participation by one gender or that the ‘deck has been stacked’ in favor of one side.”)

<sup>11</sup> Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 220, 228 (Ala.Ct. App. 1997); State v. Bourgeois, 786 S.2d 771, 775 (La. Ct. App. 2001); Commonwealth v. Tourscher, 682 A.2d 1275, 1280 (Pa. 1996); State v. Turner, 879 S.W.2d 819, 821 (Tenn. 1994).

discrimination is merely implied, courts have reversed or remanded for Batson hearings.<sup>12</sup>

In such cases, a showing of harmfulness is not required because gender or race-based discrimination is a structural error that affects the entire trial from beginning to end. State v. Russell, 917 P.2d 557, 560 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). This is consistent with Batson v. Kentucky, which indicated that a showing of purposeful racial discrimination, unrebutted by a race-neutral explanation, requires the reversal of the defendant's conviction.<sup>13</sup> In this case, the prosecutor removed Mr. Romero from the jury on the basis of his gender and race, and Mr. Chatwin's conviction should be reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.

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