2001

Utah v. Jefferey Ray Chatwin : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in denying his objection to the prosecutor’s peremptory strike of Juror 11, Amador Romero The trial court’s decision should be affirmed for several reasons. First, defendant failed to make a prima facie showing of discrimination. In finding that Juror 11 was a minority, it relied solely on the fact that he had an Hispanic name. That is not enough. Nor is it enough to show that the prospective juror was a minority as the trial court assumed. This Court should therefore affirm on the alternative ground that because defendant failed to establish a prima facie case of discrimination, he should not have been required to proffer an explanation.

Second, the prosecutor did not exercise his peremptory strike in a discriminatory manner on the basis of gender. The prosecutor did not base his peremptory challenges on any stereotype or assumption that women would be more likely to convict defendant or that men were less qualified to consider a matter of domestic violence against women Rather, he simply attempted to achieve a gender-balanced jury Had no peremptory challenges been exercised, the jury would have consisted of 6 men and 2 women The prosecutor simply used his strikes in a manner that would achieve a more balanced jury Accordingly, the

prosecutor's strikes did not violate the principles of equal protection, but in fact furthered them. A review of the record supports the prosecutor's explanation.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S PEREMPTORY STRIKE OF JUROR 11

Defendant asserts that the trial court erred in denying his objection to the prosecutor's peremptory strike of prospective juror number eleven, Amador Romero ("Juror 11"). For the reasons explained below, defendant's claim fails.

A. Equal Protection Limits on the Use of Peremptory Challenges.

"Ordinarily, prosecutors have the freedom to base peremptory challenges on any reasons related to their views of the outcome of the case to be tried." *State v. Pharris*, 846 P.2d 454, 462 (Utah App.), *cert. denied*, 857 P.2d 948 (Utah 1993). However, that privilege "is subject to the commands of the Equal Protection Clause." *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1719 (1986). Thus, "parties in a criminal action are prohibited from engaging in purposeful racial discrimination in exercising peremptory challenges of potential jurors." *State v. Higginbotham*, 917 P.2d 545, 547 (Utah 1996) (citing *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 90, 106 S.Ct. at 1719)); *accord State v. Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, ¶ 14, 994 P.2d 177. Likewise, "the Equal Protection Clause prohibits discrimination in jury selection on the basis of gender, or on the assumption that an individual will be biased in a particular case for no reason other than the fact that the person happens to be a woman or happens to be a man." *JEB v.*

Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 146, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 1430 (1994); accord *State v. Shepherd*, 1999 UT App 305, ¶ 28, 989 P.2d 503.

“Discrimination in jury selection, whether based on race or on gender, causes harm to the litigants, the community, and the individual jurors who are wrongfully excluded from participation in the judicial process.” *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 140, 114 S.Ct. at 1427. As a result, “if purposeful discrimination is ultimately found, reversal of the defendant’s conviction is mandated, without regard to the harmlessness of the constitutional error.” *State v. Macial*, 854 P.2d 543, 545 (Utah App.) (citing *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 100, 106 S.Ct. at 1721), *cert. denied*, 862 P.2d 1356 (Utah 1993).

B. Equal Protection Analysis for Peremptory Strikes.

Under *Batson* and its progeny, trial courts engage in a three-step analysis for determining whether a party challenging a peremptory strike has demonstrated an equal protection violation:

[O]nce the opponent of a peremptory strike has made out a prima facie case of [] discrimination, (step one), the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to come forward with a [neutral] explanation (step two). If a [neutral] explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide (step three) whether the opponent of the strike has proved purposeful [] discrimination.

Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 1770-71 (1995) (*per curiam*) (applying the analysis to race-based claims); accord, *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 144-45, 114 S.Ct. at 1429-30; *Cooperwood v. Cambra*, 245 F.3d 1042, 1045-46 (9th Cir.), *cert. denied*, — U.S. —, 122 S.Ct. 228 (2001); *Higginbotham*, 917 P.2d at 547.

1. Establishing a Prima Facie Case of Purposeful Discrimination.

Under the first step of the analysis, the party opposing the strike “must make out a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination by showing that the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose.” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 93-94, 106 S.Ct. at 1721; accord *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 144-45, 114 S.Ct. at 1429-30; *Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, at ¶ 18. The purpose behind this first step is “to ‘separate meritless claims of discrimination from those that have merit.’” *State v. Alvarez*, 872 P.2d 450, 455 (Utah 1994) (quoting *United States v. Malindez*, 962 F.2d 332, 334 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 875, 113 S.Ct. 215 (1992)). This step “requires more than simply showing that one or more minority jurors were peremptorily stricken.” *State v. Harrison*, 805 P.2d 769, 777 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 817 P.2d 327 (Utah 1991); accord *Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, at ¶ 18. “[A]s a general rule, a ‘defendant who requests a prima facie finding of purposeful discrimination is obligated to develop [some] record beyond numbers, in support of the asserted violation.’” *Alvarez*, 872 P.2d at 457 (quoting *United States v. Brown*, 941 P.2d 656, 659 (8th Cir. 1991)); *Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, at ¶ 18. And “[w]hile numerical evidence alone may be sufficient to establish a pattern of peremptory strikes against minority jurors, numerical evidence alone does not necessarily establish a prima facie case.” *Shepherd*, 1999 UT App 305, at ¶ 30.

In addition to demonstrating that the excluded panel members “belong to a cognizable group,” the opponent of the strike must show “that there exists ‘a strong likelihood that such persons are being challenged because of their group association rather than because of any specific bias.’” *Alvarez*, 872 P.2d at 456 (quoting *State v. Cantu*, 778 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah

1988)); accord *Shepherd*, 1999 UT App 305, at ¶ 29. “To satisfy this burden, the opponent of the strike must create a record establishing sufficient evidence to support the allegation of purposeful [] discrimination.” *State v. Cannon*, 2002 UT App 18, ¶ 8, 440 Utah Adv. Rep 7. In making this determination, the trial court “must undertake a ‘factual inquiry’ that ‘takes into account all possible explanatory factors’ in the particular case.” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 995, 106 S.Ct. at 1722. For example, “a ‘pattern’ of strikes against [minority] jurors might give rise to an inference of discrimination. Similarly, the prosecutor’s questions and statements during *voir dire* examination and in exercising his challenges may support or refute an inference of discriminatory purpose.” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97, 106 S.Ct. at 1723; accord *Alvarez*, 872 P.2d at 455.

2. Offering a Neutral Explanation for the Peremptory Strike.

Once the opponent of the strike makes a *prima facie* showing, the proponent “must articulate a neutral explanation related to the particular case to be tried.” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97-88, 106 S.Ct. at 1723-24; accord *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 144-45, 114 S.Ct. at 1429-30. The proponent of a strike cannot satisfy step two “by merely denying that he had a discriminatory motive or by merely affirming his good faith.” *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 769, 115 S.Ct. at 1771. On the other hand, this second step “does not demand an explanation that is persuasive, or even plausible.” *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768, 115 S.Ct. at 1771; see also *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97, 106 S.Ct. at 172 (explaining that the explanation “need not rise to the level justifying exercise of a challenge for cause”). All that is required is an explanation that “does not deny equal protection.” *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 769, 115 S.Ct. at 1771. “Unless a discriminatory intent is

inherent in the prosecutor's explanation, the reason offered will be deemed [] neutral." *Id.* This is so because "the ultimate burden of persuasion regarding [] motivation rests with, and never shifts from, the opponent of the strike." *Id.*⁴

3. Proving Purposeful Discrimination.

The final step requires the trial court to decide whether the opponent of the peremptory challenge has proved purposeful [] discrimination." *Higginbotham*, 917 P.2d at 548; *accord Batson*, 476 U.S. at 98, 106 S.Ct. at 1724. In other words, the trial court must determine whether the proponent's "explanation for a peremptory challenge should be believed." *State v. Bowman*, 945 P.2d 153, 156 (Utah App. 1997) (quoting *Hernandez v. New York*, 500 U.S. 352, 365 111 S.Ct. 1859, 1869 (1991)). "[T]he question is not whether the prosecutor's explanation for the strike was factually correct, but whether it was a pretext to disguise a [discriminatory] motive." *Id.* at 156; *accord Higginbotham*, 917 P.2d at 549 n.3 (holding that "a peremptory challenge can be made even for a mistaken reason so long as it is not racially motivated").

⁴In *Batson*, the Supreme Court explained that the proponent of the strike "must give a 'clear and reasonably specific' explanation of his 'legitimate reasons' for exercising the challenges." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 98 n.20, 106 S.Ct. at 1724 n.20. Based on this language, Utah courts have concluded that the explanation by the proponent of the strike "must be '(1) neutral, (2) related to the case being tried, (3) clear and reasonably specific, and (4) legitimate.'" *Higginbotham*, 917 P.2d at 548 (quoting *Cantu II*, 778 P.2d at 518). These latter two requirements, however, do not suggest that the explanation be plausible. As later explained by the Supreme Court in *Purkett*, were simply "meant to refute the notion that a prosecutor could satisfy his burden of production by merely denying that he had a discriminatory motive or by merely affirming his good faith." *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 769, 115 S.Ct. at 1771. In other words, "[w]hat is meant by a 'legitimate reason' is not a reason that makes sense, but a reason that does not deny equal protection." *Id.*

In this final step, “the persuasiveness of the [proponent’s] justification becomes relevant.” *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768, 115 S.Ct. at 1771. As observed by the United States Supreme Court, “[a]t this stage, implausible or fantastic justifications may (and probably will) be found to be pretexts for purposeful discrimination.” *Id.* ““There will seldom be much evidence bearing on th[is] issue, and the best evidence often will be the demeanor of the attorney who exercises the challenge.”” *Id.* (quoting *Hernandez*, 500 U.S. at 365, 111 S.Ct. at 1869). Accordingly, “[i]n determining whether the peremptory challenge involved purposeful [] discrimination, the trial court must undertake a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available.” *Cannon*, 2002 UT App 18, at ¶ 13 (internal quotes and citations omitted). Factors that may bear on the credibility of the explanation offered include “(1) alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question, (2) failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, (3) singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor’s reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror[s] who were not challenged.” *Bowman*, 945 P.2d at 155-56 (quoting *Cantu II*, 778 P.2d at 518-19).

C. The Peremptory Strike of Juror 11 Was Not Discriminatory.

Applying the three-step analysis to the facts here reveals that the trial court correctly denied defendant’s objection to the prosecutor’s peremptory strike of Juror 11.

1. Defendant Did Not Establish a Prima Facie Case of Purposeful Discrimination.

After each party exercised its four peremptory challenges and the jury was sworn, defendant's counsel raised a *Batson* objection to the prosecutor's fourth peremptory challenge against Juror 11, Amador Romero. R. 101: 25-26.⁵ Counsel pointed out that Juror 11 was the only minority of the sixteen prospective jurors from which the jury would be selected. R. 101: 26. He further argued that because Juror 11 was a minority, he would have "more sympathy" for his client who came "from a lower socioeconomic environment." R. 101: 26. The prosecutor argued that he was not required to provide an explanation for the strike, contending that defendant had failed to make a prima facie showing of discrimination. R. 101: 26-27. Relying solely on the fact that "Romero" is a Hispanic surname, the trial court found that Juror 11 was a minority. R. 101: 27. The court ruled that "given that fact alone, Counsel's probably entitled to some explanation as to [the prosecutor's] reasons so [the court] may then determine whether or not . . . it was neutral and not racially charged" R. 101: 27. The trial court's conclusion was error.

In the first instance, the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's finding that Juror 11 was in fact a minority. As observed by this Court in *Bowman*, "Utah courts have never found a Spanish surname alone sufficient to show minority status unless that minority status was corroborated by the trial court or the jurors themselves, or was undisputed." 945 P.2d at 156. The record does not support a finding that Juror 11 was a

⁵The portion of the transcript containing defendant's *Batson* objection and the trial court's ruling thereon is reproduced in Addendum A.

minority. During the voir dire examination, Juror 11 responded to two questions, giving his name and general background and indicating that he had once served on a jury. *See* R. 101: 7, 17. Nothing in his responses indicated that he was Hispanic other than his name. Although defense counsel asserted that Juror 11 “also had a little bit of an accent,” the trial court did not address that claim and the record cannot support it. *See* R. 101: 27-28. Moreover, the prosecutor did not concede that Juror 11 was Hispanic, but expressed some doubt as to that fact. Although the prosecutor recognized that the court could rule otherwise, he did not concede the point. *See* R. 101: 26-27 (stating that “[i]f the Court finds that Mr. Romero is a minority”). On these facts, the trial court erred in finding that defendant was a minority based on his surname alone. *See Bowman*, 945 P.2d at 156.

Even if the trial court correctly concluded that Juror 11 was a minority, it incorrectly concluded that Juror 11's minority status alone was sufficient to require an explanation from the prosecutor. Both this Court and the Utah Supreme Court have made it clear that “[t]he mere fact that the subject of the peremptory strike is a minority member does not establish a prima facie case.” *Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, at ¶ 18; *accord Cannon*, 2002 UT App 18, at ¶ 8. Moreover, defendant did not identify anything else in the record that would support a finding that the strike was discriminatory. He did not establish a pattern of strikes against minority jurors. *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97, 106 S.Ct. at 1723. As noted by the prosecutor, Juror 11 was in fact the fourth and last prospective juror stricken by him. *See* R. 49; R. 101: 27.^b Nor did defendant point to anything in the “prosecutor’s questions and statements during *voir dire*

^bThe jury list is reproduced in Addendum B.

examination [or] in exercising his challenges” that would support “an inference of discriminatory purpose.” *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 97, 106 S.Ct. at 1723. Indeed, there was none. *See* R. 101: 5-25.

Defendant did make a claim that the peremptory strike of Juror 11 was improper because as a minority, he would be more sympathetic to his client who came from a “lower socioeconomic environment.” R. 101: 26. This argument in itself reinforces the very kind of stereotypes that *Batson* seeks to prevent. As counsel acknowledged, nothing suggested that Juror 11 came from a lower socioeconomic environment. *See* R. 101: 26. And that fact should not be inferred by virtue of a juror’s minority status. Moreover, *Batson* made clear that “a defendant has no right to a ‘petit jury composed in whole or in part of persons of his own race.’” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 85, 106 S.Ct. at 1717 (quoting *Strauder v. West Virginia*, 10 Otto 303, 100 U.S. 303, 305 (1880)). Defendant likewise has no right to a jury composed in whole or in part of persons of his own socioeconomic background.

In sum, because the trial court incorrectly concluded that defendant had made a prima facie showing of discrimination, this Court should affirm the conviction below on that ground. *See State v. Finlayson*, 2000 UT 10, ¶ 31, 994 P.2d 1243 (holding that the appellate court “may affirm a judgment of a lower court if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record”).⁷

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